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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

HYDRAASSIST LLC, d/b/a 
CATTLEVACBOX, 

Civ. 

Plaintiff, 

COMPLAINT AND REQUEST FOR 
JURY TRIAL 

vs. 

RK PARTNERSHIP LLC, d/b/a CROSS FIVE 
CATTLE COOLERS, and 

BIG FRIG, LLC, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff HydraAssist LLC, doing business as CattleVacBox (hereinafter “Plaintiff”), 

brings this Complaint for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the United States 

of America, 35 U.S.C. §§ 271 et seq., against Defendant RK Partnership LLC, doing business as 

Cross Five Cattle Coolers, and Defendant Big Frig, LLC (hereinafter “Big Frig”), and states as 

follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff HydraAssist LLC is a limited liability company organized under the laws

of the State of Minnesota, with its principal place of business located at 8095 215th Street W, 

Lakeville, Minnesota 55044. 

2. Plaintiff HydraAssist LLC is the owner of U.S. Patent No. 10,322,866; U.S.

Patent No. 10,807,786; and U.S. Design Patent No. D836,859. 
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3. Upon information and belief, Defendant RK Partnership LLC is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the State of South Dakota, with its principal place of 

business located at 3491 Whitewood Service Road, Sturgis, South Dakota 57785. 

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant Big Frig, LLC is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the State of South Dakota, with its principal place of 

business located at 610 Freedom Drive Suite 2, North Sioux City, South Dakota 57049. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 100 et 

seq., and this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1331, 1332, and 1338(a).  

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant RK Partnership LLC 

consistent with the due process clause of the United States Constitution. On information and 

belief, Defendant RK Partnership LLC is a limited liability company organized under the laws of 

the State of South Dakota and has its principal place of business in this State and in this District. 

On information and belief, Defendant RK Partnership LLC has regularly and systematically 

transacted business in South Dakota and has committed acts of patent infringement in South 

Dakota as alleged more particularly below. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant Big Frig consistent with 

the due process clause of the United States Constitution. On information and belief, Defendant 

has a regular and established place of business in this State and in this District. On information 

and belief, Defendant has regularly and systematically transacted business in South Dakota and 

has committed acts of patent infringement in South Dakota as alleged more particularly below. 

Case 4:22-cv-04004-RAL   Document 1   Filed 01/11/22   Page 2 of 13 PageID #: 2



3 
 

8. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 and 

§ 1400(b) because Defendant RK Partnership LLC resides within the District, has a regular and 

established place of business in this district, and has committed acts of infringement in this 

District. Further, venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 and 

§ 1400(b) because Defendant Big Frig resides within the District, has a regular and established 

place of business in this district, and has committed acts of infringement in this District. 

THE ASSERTED PATENTS AND BACKGROUND 

9. On January 12, 2017, Darla Bramwell filed U.S. Provisional Patent Application 

Serial No. 62/445,369 with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (hereinafter 

“USPTO”), for a thermally insulated livestock container. On July 6, 2017, Bramwell filed a non-

provisional patent application claiming priority to the aforementioned U.S. Provisional Patent 

Application Serial No. 62/445,369. The non-provisional patent application filed July 6, 2017, 

U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 15/642,532, was for an invention by Bramwell for a new, 

useful, and nonobvious livestock medication container. 

10. On the basis of U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 15/642,532, filed July 6, 2017, 

the USPTO legally issued to Bramwell U.S. Patent No. 10,322,866 (“the ‘866 Patent”) on June 

18, 2019. 

11. The ‘866 Patent is valid and enforceable. A true and accurate copy of the ‘866 

Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

12. On June 17, 2019, prior to issuance of the ‘866 Patent, Bramwell filed U.S. Patent 

Application Serial No. 16/442,998 with the USPTO as a continuation of U.S. Patent Application 

Serial No. 15/642,532.  

13. On the basis of U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 16/442,998, the USPTO legally 
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issued to Bramwell U.S. Patent No. 10,807,786 (“the ‘786 Patent”) on October 20, 2020. 

14. The ‘786 Patent is valid and enforceable. A true and accurate copy of the ‘786 

Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

15. On May 21, 2018, Bramwell filed U.S. Design Patent Application Serial No. 

29/648,380 with the USPTO as a continuation of U.S. Design Patent Application Serial No. 

29/599,965, filed April 7, 2017.  

16. On the basis of U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 29/648,380, the USPTO legally 

issued to Bramwell U.S. Design Patent No. D836,859 (“the ‘859 Design Patent”) on December 

25, 2018. 

17. The ‘859 Design Patent is valid and enforceable. A true and accurate copy of the 

‘859 Design Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

THE ACCUSED PRODUCTS 

18. Upon information and belief, Defendants make, use, sell, and/or offer for sale 

thermally insulated livestock medication containers, including the 3 Holster Ranch Hand Cross 

Vaccine Cooler (pictured nearby as Figure 1), the 2 Holster Chute Side Cooler, and the 4 Holster 

Ranch Hand Vaccination Cooler (collectively “the Accused Products”). 

 

Figure 1 
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NOTICE OF INFRINGEMENT 

19. Upon information and belief, Defendants have had actual knowledge of Plaintiff’s 

patent rights. 

20.  On or about August 10, 2021, counsel for Plaintiff notified Defendant RK 

Partnership LLC that the Accused Products infringed the ‘866 Patent, the ‘786 Patent, and the 

‘859 Design Patent.  

21. Upon information and belief, Defendants have continued to make, use, sell, or 

offer to sell the Accused Products with complete disregard for Plaintiff’s patent rights in the ‘866 

Patent, the ‘786 Patent, and the ‘859 Design Patent. Defendants knew or should have known that 

its actions constituted infringement of the ‘866 Patent, the ‘786 Patent, and the ‘859 Design 

Patent.  

COUNT I: INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 10,322,866 

22. Plaintiff incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 21 of the Complaint. 

23. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe the ‘866 Patent by making, 

using, selling, and offering to sell the Accused Products, which infringe at least claims 1-5 and 

15 of the ‘866 Patent. Defendants are infringing the ‘866 Patent and will continue to infringe the 

‘866 Patent unless enjoined by this Court. 

24. The Accused Products embody the patented invention and infringe at least claims 

1-5 and 15 of the ‘866 Patent, literally, directly or indirectly, or under the doctrine of equivalents. 

25. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products provide a livestock 

medication container that includes a thermally insulated body having a plurality of upstanding 

sidewalls, a bottom wall interconnecting the plurality of upstanding sidewalls to define an 

interior cavity, and a top opening; a lid movably attached to at least one of the plurality of 
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upstanding sidewalls, the lid configured to provide a closure of the top opening when placed in a 

closed position; and one or more sleeves forming apertures extending through the lid, wherein 

the one or more sleeves extend from an interior of the lid and are dimensioned to holster a 

dispensing end of a livestock medication delivery device in an upright orientation. 

26. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products include one or more dividers 

removably received within the interior cavity, to define a plurality of interior compartments. 

27. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products include a top lid that includes 

a first lid portion covering a first portion of the top opening; and a second lid portion covering a 

second portion of the top opening. 

28. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products include a first lid portion that 

covers at least one of the plurality of interior compartments. 

29. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products include a second lid portion 

that covers another of the plurality of interior compartments. 

30. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products provide a livestock 

medication container, comprising: a thermally insulated body having a plurality of upstanding 

sidewalls, a bottom wall interconnecting the plurality of upstanding sidewalls to define an 

interior cavity, and a top opening; a first lid segment and a second lid segment configured to 

provide a closure of a first end and a second end of the top opening when placed in a closed 

position, each of the first lid segment and the second lid segment movably attached to at least 

one of the plurality of upstanding sidewalls; and one or more sleeves forming apertures 

extending through the second lid segment, wherein the one or more sleeves extend from an 

interior of the lid and are dimensioned to retain a dispensing end of a livestock medication 
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delivery device in an upright orientation with a delivery tip of the livestock medication device 

received within the interior cavity. 

31. As a result of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘866 Patent, Plaintiff is entitled to 

monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendants’ infringement, but in no 

event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendants, together 

with interest and costs as fixed by the Court. 

32. Defendants’ activities in infringing the ‘866 Patent are willful and deliberate, 

entitling Plaintiff to enhanced damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and to attorneys’ fees and costs 

incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

33. Plaintiff has been irreparably damaged and will continue to be irreparably 

damaged by reason of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘866 Patent unless this Court restrains the 

infringing acts of Defendants. Plaintiff is without an adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT II: INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 10,807,786 

34. Plaintiff incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 33 of the Complaint. 

35. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe the ‘786 Patent by making, 

using, selling, and offering to sell the Accused Products, which infringe at least claims 1-3, 15, 

and 18 of the ‘786 Patent. Defendants are infringing the ‘786 Patent and will continue to infringe 

the ‘786 Patent unless enjoined by this Court. 

36. The Accused Products embody the patented invention and infringe at least claims 

1-3 and 15-18 of the ‘786 Patent, literally, directly or indirectly, or under the doctrine of 

equivalents. 

37. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products provide an insulated container 

that includes a thermally insulated body having a plurality of upstanding sidewalls, a bottom wall 

Case 4:22-cv-04004-RAL   Document 1   Filed 01/11/22   Page 7 of 13 PageID #: 7



8 
 

interconnecting the plurality of upstanding sidewalls to define an interior cavity, and a top 

opening; a lid movably attached to at least one of the plurality of upstanding sidewalls, the lid 

configured to provide a closure of the top opening when placed in a closed position; and one or 

more sleeves extend from a bottom surface of the lid, wherein the one or more sleeves surround 

an aperture extending from an interior face of the lid and are dimensioned to holster an end of a 

cylindrical device in an upright orientation when received through the one or more sleeves. 

38. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products include one or more dividers 

removably received within the interior cavity, to define a plurality of interior compartments. 

39. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products include a lid that includes a 

first lid portion covering a first portion of the top opening; and a second lid portion covering a 

second portion of the top opening. 

40. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products provide lid for an insulated 

container, including a first lid segment and a second lid segment configured to provide a closure 

of a first end and a second end of a top opening of the insulated container when placed in a 

closed position; and one or more sleeves extending from a bottom surface of the second lid 

segment and an aperture defined through an interior face of the second lid segment, wherein the 

one or more sleeves are dimensioned to retain a cylindrical shaft received through the aperture in 

an upright orientation relative to the lid with an end of the cylindrical shaft carried above a 

bottom of the insulated container. 

41. Upon information and belief, the Accused Products provide a lid segment 

dimensioned to cover a portion of a top opening of the insulated container when placed in a 

closed condition; an aperture vertically extending through a top surface and a bottom surface of 

the lid segment; and a sleeve extending from the bottom surface of the lid segment and aligned 
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with the aperture, wherein the aperture and the sleeve are dimensioned to holster a cylindrical 

shaft in an upright orientation when received through the aperture. 

42. As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘786 Patent, Plaintiff is entitled to 

monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no 

event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together 

with interest and costs as fixed by the Court. 

43. Defendants’ activities in infringing the ‘786 Patent are willful and deliberate, 

entitling Plaintiff to enhanced damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and to attorneys’ fees and costs 

incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

44. Plaintiff has been irreparably damaged and will continue to be irreparably 

damaged by reason of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘786 Patent unless this Court restrains the 

infringing acts of Defendants. Plaintiff is without an adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT III: INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. DESIGN PATENT NO. D836,859 

45. Plaintiff incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 46 of the Complaint. 

46. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe the ‘859 Design Patent by 

making, using, selling, and offering to sell the Accused Products. Defendants are infringing the 

‘859 Design Patent and will continue to infringe the ‘859 Design Patent unless enjoined by this 

Court. 

47. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe the ‘859 Design Patent in so 

far as at least some of the Accused Products, sold or offered for sale in the United States, 

including within this District, infringe the design covered by the ‘859 Design Patent in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271.  
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48. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe the ‘859 Design Patent 

because, in the eye of an ordinary observer, giving such attention as a purchaser usually gives, at 

least some of the Accused Products incorporate substantially the same design covered by the 

‘859 Design Patent, the resemblance being such as to deceive such an ordinary observer, 

inducing such an ordinary observer to purchase Defendants’ product while supposing it to be 

Plaintiff’s product.  

49. As a result of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘859 Design Patent, Plaintiff is 

entitled to monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s 

infringement, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by 

Defendant, together with interest and costs as fixed by the Court. 

50. As a result of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘859 Design Patent, Plaintiff is 

entitled to recover Defendants’ profits from the sale of Accused Products that infringe the ‘859 

Design Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 289. 

51. Defendants’ activities in infringing the ‘859 Design Patent are willful and 

deliberate, entitling Plaintiff to enhanced damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and to attorneys’ fees 

and costs incurred in prosecuting this action under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

52. Plaintiff has been irreparably damaged and will continue to be irreparably 

damaged by reason of Defendants’ infringement of the ‘859 Design Patent unless this Court 

restrains the infringing acts of Defendants. Plaintiff is without an adequate remedy at law. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Prays: 

A. That this Court enter a judgment that Defendants have infringed U.S. Patent No. 

10,322,866, U.S. Patent No. 10,807,786, and U.S. Design Patent No. D836,859, and that such 

infringement was willful; 

B. That Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, and those persons in active 

participation or concert with them be permanently enjoined from infringing U.S. Patent No. 

10,322,866, U.S. Patent No. 10,807,786, and U.S. Design Patent No. D836,859; 

C. That Defendants be ordered to pay damages to Plaintiff pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 

284, including interest from the dates of infringement, resulting from Defendant’s infringement 

of U.S. Patent No. 10,322,866, U.S. Patent No. 10,807,786, and U.S. Design Patent No. 

D836,859;  

D. That Defendants be ordered to pay to Plaintiff treble damages pursuant to 35 

U.S.C. § 284, resulting from Defendant’s willful infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,322,866, 

U.S. Patent No. 10,807,786, and U.S. Design Patent No. D836,859; 

E. That Plaintiff be awarded its costs of this action and reasonable attorneys’ fees 

pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §§ 284 and 285; and 

F. That Plaintiff be awarded such further relief as this Court may deem just and 

proper. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Dated at Sioux Falls, South Dakota, this 11th day of January, 2022. 
 
 

DAVENPORT, EVANS, HURWITZ & 
SMITH, L.L.P. 
 
/s/ Ashley R. Brost    
Ashley R. Brost 
206 West 14th Street, P.O. Box 1030 
Sioux Falls, SD 57101-1030 
Telephone (605) 336-2880 
Facsimile (605) 335-3639 
E-mail:  abrost@dehs.com   

Attorneys for Plaintiff  
 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff hereby requests a 

trial by jury for all issues triable by a jury. 

/s/ Ashley R. Brost    
Ashley R. Brost 
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